
MINUTES OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 

April 27, 2015 

 

 

The regular meeting of the Plan Commission was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore at 

7:02 p.m. at the Village Hall. 

 

Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, William Cotey, Amy Flores, Walter Oakley, Kurt 

Schultz, and David Semmelman. 

 

Members absent:  Dan Donahue. 

 

Village Staff present:  John Spoden, Director of Community Development; David Smith, Senior 

Planner; and Fred Chung, Senior Project Engineer. 

 

Commissioner Cotey moved, seconded by Commissioner Schultz, to approve the March 23, 

2015, Plan Commission meeting minutes. 

 

Motion carried 7 - 0. 

 

OLD BUSINESS: None. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

PC 15-05 Donald O’Shea, Applicant 

  416 N. Milwaukee Avenue 

 

Request is for a Special Use Permit for a Vehicles and Parts Dealer, but limited to a 

Motorcycle Dealer, in order to allow Indian Motorcycle of Libertyville to occupy the 

former Arden’s Furniture store in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District. 

 

Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, introduced the petitioner’s request for a Special Use Permit.  

Mr. Smith stated that the petitioner, Donald O’Shea for Indian Motorcycle of Libertyville, is 

requesting approval for a Special Use Permit for a Vehicles and Parts Dealer, but limited to a 

Motorcycle Dealer, in order to allow Indian Motorcycle of Libertyville to occupy the former 

Arden’s Furniture store in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District at 416 N. Milwaukee 

Avenue. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the Plan Commission may recall that the petitioner was before them at their 

January 26, 2015, meeting requesting a text amendment to the Zoning Code to include 

Motorcycle Dealers as a Special Permitted Use in the C-1, Downtown Core Commercial District.  

The Village Board granted approval of the text amendment at their February 11, 2015 meeting. 

 

Mr. Donald O’Shea, petitioner, introduced himself to the Plan Commission.  He stated that he is 

seeking the Special Use Permit.  He stated that they have received a positive recommendation 

from the Appearance Review Commission.  He stated that he is present to answer any questions 

that the Plan Commission may have. 



Minutes of the April 27, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 2 of 4 

 

Mr. James Bertucci, attorney representing the property owner Mark Khayat, stated that the 

property owner objects to the proposed Staff condition for approval for the Special Use Permit to 

require that the entire 35 space parking lot on the owner’s property to remain open for shared 

customer parking.  He stated that it should be the owner’s choice as to how the parking lot is 

restricted or not. 

 

Mr. John Durning, owner of Pizzeria DeVille, asked if the parking lot will be available for 

customers of other establishments or for public use.  He stated that it is a valuable piece of land 

and could benefit many of the retailers on that block.  He asked if there are alternative 

approaches to enabling a shared parking opportunity. 

 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the Village owns the parking 

lot on the north side of Village Hall and is responsible for maintaining it.  He stated that the 

property in question tonight is privately owned.  He stated that the proposed Staff condition to 

make Mr. Khayat’s parking lot open and available to be shared was Staff’s intent to make it 

available for the other businesses on that block understanding that the Village couldn’t require 

such a condition. 

 

Mr. Durning asked if there are Village funds to compensate the property owner in order to make 

parking available.  Mr. Spoden stated that the TIF District funds are intended for public parking 

improvements only, not for private parking lots. 

 

Mr. Mark Khayat, property owner of subject site, asked if the proposed Staff condition to make 

the parking lot open for shared parking will be stricken or not. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that Mr. Khayat’s request to strike the DRC Staff report parking 

condition is yet to be determined as the public hearing is still open and the request for the Special 

Use Permit is still being discussed. 

 

Commissioner Semmelman asked for clarification as to where the public entrance is into the 

building and where the entrance is for those seeking service for their motorcycles.  Mr. O’Shea 

stated that the front entrance facing Milwaukee Avenue and that the service entrance is to the 

rear facing to the east. 

 

Commissioner Cotey asked for clarification of the floor plan and where the service area is inside 

the building.  Mr. O’Shea stated that the service area is located towards the rear or east end of the 

tenant space. 

 

Commissioner Cotey asked for clarification as to when and how parts and product are delivered 

to the site.  Mr. O’Shea stated that parts are delivered by truck and ramped up into the building 

from the rear.  He stated that the motorcycles are delivered in crates and assembled on site.  He 

stated that deliveries will include 18 wheeler trucks and UPS trucks will deliver parts and 

accessories.   

 

Commissioner Cotey asked how the parking lot will be utilized.  Mr. Khayat stated that he is 

leasing the parking lot to the tenant and it will be up to the tenant as to how is it will be used.  He 



Minutes of the April 27, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 3 of 4 

 

stated that it most likely will be used for customers and employees.  He stated that the prior 

tenant, Mickey Finns, had signs reserving parking for customers. 

 

Commissioner Flores asked if the new tenant, Indian Motorcycle, will post signs to reserve 

parking spaces.  Mr. Khayat stated that it will be the tenant’s decision. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked about the hours of operation.  Mr. O’Shea stated that the hours of 

operation will be from 10:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. 

 

Commissioner Oakley asked if the property owner is willing to open up the parking lot for 

shared parking after Indian Motorcycle closes.  Mr. Khayat stated that it will be up to the tenant. 

 

Commissioner Schultz asked if the tenant will really need 35 parking spaces. 

 

Chairman Moore asked how many test drives of the motorcycles will take place per day.  Mr. 

O’Shea stated that there may be 4 or 5 per week day and up to 10 on Saturday. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that he is concerned about the impact of the noise. 

 

Mr. O’Shea stated that the motorcycles will be compliant with the law relative to the sound they 

will produce.  

 

Chairman Moore stated that he will entertain a motion for approval for the Special Use Permit 

and all of the Staff conditions, except for the condition to keep the 35 space parking lot open for 

shared parking which can be stricken. 

 

In the matter of PC 15-05, Commissioner Semmelman moved, seconded by Commissioner 

Oakley, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a Special Use Permit for a 

Vehicles and Parts Dealers, but limited to a Motorcycle Dealer, in order to allow Indian 

Motorcycle of Libertyville to occupy the former Arden’s Furniture store in the C-1, Downtown 

Core Commercial District, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Any road test driving of the motorcycles shall be limited to the truck route defined as 

Church Street to Fifth Street to Park Avenue to Milwaukee Avenue for both exiting routes 

and return routes. 

2. All aspects of the Indian Motorcycle of Libertyville operation shall be conducted entirely 

within an enclosed building and no outdoor storage, outdoor display, or outdoor sales 

shall be allowed. 

3. The restriping of parking spaces numbered 19, 20, and 21 shall match and not exceed the 

existing length. 
4. An easement for public water main behind the building will need to be executed and 

recorded prior to authorization of occupancy for this project. 
 

Ayes:  Cotey, Flores, Oakley, Semmelman 

Nays:  Moore, Schultz  

Absent: Donahue 

 



Minutes of the April 27, 2015, Plan Commission Meeting 

Page 4 of 4 

 

COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 

Commissioner Oakley moved, seconded by Commissioner Flores, to adjourn the Plan 

Commission meeting. 

 

Motion carried 7 - 0. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 7:29 p.m. 


